

# Post-Ischemic Housing Conditions Influence On Gene Transcription And Translation After Permanent Focal Brain Ischemia In Rats

Zhao, Li-Ru

2004

#### Link to publication

Citation for published version (APA):

Zhao, L.-R. (2004). Post-Ischemic Housing Conditions Influence On Gene Transcription And Translation After Permanent Focal Brain Ischemia In Rats. [Doctoral Thesis (compilation), Section IV]. Department of Clinical Neuroscience, Lund University.

Total number of authors:

Unless other specific re-use rights are stated the following general rights apply:
Copyright and moral rights for the publications made accessible in the public portal are retained by the authors and/or other copyright owners and it is a condition of accessing publications that users recognise and abide by the legal requirements associated with these rights.

• Users may download and print one copy of any publication from the public portal for the purpose of private study

- or research.
- You may not further distribute the material or use it for any profit-making activity or commercial gain
   You may freely distribute the URL identifying the publication in the public portal

Read more about Creative commons licenses: https://creativecommons.org/licenses/

If you believe that this document breaches copyright please contact us providing details, and we will remove access to the work immediately and investigate your claim.

# From Laboratory of Experimental Brain Research, Department of Clinical Neuroscience, Wallenberg Neuroscience Center, Lund University, Sweden

## POST-ISCHEMIC HOUSING CONDITIONS INFLUENCE ON GENE TRANSCRIPTION AND TRANSLATION AFTER PERMANENT FOCAL BRAIN ISCHEMIA IN RATS

By

Li-Ru Zhao

Lund, 2004



To my family I dedicate this thesis

### **CONTENTS**

SUMMARY	5
ORIGINAL PAPERS	6
ABBREVIATIONS	7
INTRODUCTION	8
Stroke	8
Spontaneous functional recovery after stroke	8
Brain plasticity	8
Brain plasticity: possible mechanisms for spontaneous functional recovery after stroke	8
Enriched environment and functional improvement	11
Brain-derived neurotrophic factor and brain plasticity	12
Nerve growth factor-induced gene A and corticosteroid receptor in brain plasticity	13
Some candidate factors for brain plasticity not included in this thesis	14
Animal models of stroke	14
AIMS OF THE STUDY	16
GENERAL METHODS	17
Experimental animals and surgery	17
Housing environments	17
Experimental design	18
SUMMARY AND COMMENTS OF THE RESULTS	19
Infarction size and post-ischemic housing conditions (paper I & III)	19
Gene transcription in post-ischemic housing conditions (paper I & III)	19
BDNF protein determination (paper II)	20
DISCUSSION	22
The complexity of gene activations after brain ischemia	22
Enriched environment housing and gene expression at recovery stage	22
Gene transcription and/or translation of BDNF and NGFI-A outside infarction areas	23
Is down-regulation of BDNF beneficial to functional recovery after brain ischemia?	23
Changes of mRNA expressions of NGFI-A and its target genes influenced by post-ischemic housing conditions	25
Conclusion remarks	27
CONCLUSIONS	28
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	29
REFERENCES	31
APPENDIX	43
Paper I	45
Paper II	55
Paper III	61

#### **SUMMARY**

Enriched environment (EE) housing significantly ameliorates neurological deficits induced by cortical brain ischemia without changing infarction size, suggesting that EE-related functional benefits are associated with neuronal plasticity events in the remaining tissue. Brain-derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF), nerve growth factor-induced gene A (NGF-A) and corticosteroid receptors (mineralocorticoid receptor, MR; glucocorticoid receptor, GR) have been demonstrated to be involved in brain plasticity. The purpose of this thesis was to determine if post-ischemic housing conditions had a significant effect on transcription and/or translation of BDNF, NGF-A and corticosteroid receptors. We found that BDNF gene was down regulated in EE-housed rats when compared to the rats housed in standard cages at 2~12 days after cortical brain ischemia in peri-infarct cortex, contralateral cortex and bilateral hippocampus. The protein level of BDNF in the ipsilateral frontal cortex was lower in the EE-housed rats than the standard environment (SE)-housed rats at 12d postischemia. The mRNA expression of NGF-A showed a similar pattern of BDNF except for an increase at 30 d after induction of brain ischemia in EE-housed rats. Ischemia-induced reduction of GR was prevented in the rats housed in EE condition. There was no difference between EE- and SE-housed animals in MR gene expression. Gene expressions, however, are very complex in housing conditions and postischemia. Further studies are needed to determine whether the EE-related gene transcription and/or translation reported in this thesis are linked with EE-induced functional benefits.

#### **ORIGINAL PAPERS**

This thesis is based on the following papers and their Roman Numerals will refer to the papers in the text:

- I. Zhao LR, Mattsson B, Johansson BB. Environmental influence on brainderived neurotrophic factor messenger RNA expression after middle cerebral artery occlusion in spontaneously hypertensive rats. *Neuroscience*. 2000;97:177-184.
- II Zhao LR, Risedal A, Wojcik A, Hejzlar J, Johansson BB, Kokaia Z. Enriched environment influences brain-derived neurotrophic factor levels in rat forebrain after focal stroke. *Neurosci Lett.* 2001; 305: 169-172.
- III. Dahlqvist P, Zhao L, Johansson IM, Mattsson B, Johansson BB, Seckl JR, Olsson T. Environmental enrichment alters nerve growth factor-induced gene A and glucocorticoid receptor messenger RNA expression after middle cerebral artery occlusion in rats. Neuroscience.1999; 93: 527-535.

#### **ABBREVIATIONS**

ANOVA analysis of variance

bFGF basic fibroblast growth factor
BDNF brain-derived neurotrophic factor

CA cornu ammonis

CaMKII calcium/calmodulin-dependent protein kinase II

CNS central nervous system

DG dentate gyrus

cDNA complementary deoxyribonucleic acid cRNA complementary ribonucleic acid

EE enriched environment

ELISA enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay fMRI functional magnetic resonance imaging

FDA food and drug administration

GABA γ-aminobutyric acid GAP growth associated protein

GDNF glial cell line-derived neurotrophic factor

GR glucocorticoid receptor
IEGs immediate early genes
IGF insulin-like growth factor
LDP long-term depression
LTP long-term potentiation

MCAo middle cerebral artery occlusion MR mineralocorticoid receptor mRNA messenger ribonucleic acid

NGF nerve growth factor

NGFI-A nerve growth factor-induced gene A

NMDA N-methyl-D-aspartate NT-3 neurotrophin-3 NT-4/5 neurotrophin-4/5 NT-6 neurotrophin-6

PBS phosphate buffered saline PET positron emission tomography

rtPA recombinant tissue plasminogen activator

SE standard environment SGZ subgranular zone

SHR spontaneously hypertensive rat

SVZ subventricular zone

TMS transcranial magnetic stimulation
Trk B tropomyosine related kinase B

#### INTRODUCTION

#### Stroke

Stroke remains a leading cause of disability and the third cause of death worldwide [179]. In the Caucasian population about 80% of strokes are diagnosed as ischemic strokes [179]. In the United States, each year about 700,000 people suffer a stroke, resulting in nursing care costs of more than \$ 50 billion [6]. In 1996, the US Food and Drug Administration (FDA) approved a drug for thrombolysis called recombinant tissue plasminogen activator (rtPA). This has been the only FDA-approved treatment for stroke patients in the acute phase [68]. Although intravenous administration of rtPA has shown to be of benefit with a minimum or no disability after a 3-month interval of the stroke onset the treatment window is as narrow as 3 hours after stroke symptom onset, and the treatment risks hemorrhage and potential neurotoxin effects [68,140]. Many stroke patients have already missed the critical time—first 3 h after stroke onset when they are transferred to the hospital and are diagnosed. Physiotherapy and occupational therapy may be of some help to obtain a limited degree of functional improvement; however, nearly half of stroke survivors suffer from disability and become dependent [179].

#### Spontaneous functional recovery after stroke

Despite permanent damage in the brain, the spontaneous functional recovery occurs days, weeks, months and years after stroke onset [87]. Motor recovery in stroke patients happens predominantly in the initial weeks to the first three months; thereafter, it continues at a slow pace throughout the first year [26]. In the first hours to the first few days, the recovery may be due to resolution of cerebral edema and restoring neuron function in the ischemic penumbra by reperfusion. Later, beyond this acute phase, responsibility for spontaneous functional recovery is likely due to brain plasticity [60, 26, 179]. In the past decades, numerous clinical studies supported the notion of functional reorganization in stroke patients. Using noninvasive brain imaging techniques such as positron emission tomography (PET), functional magnetic resonance imaging (fMRI), transcranial magnetic stimulation (TMS) and magnetoencephalography (MEG), investigators found that functional activities were captured in the intact tissue of both the affected and nonaffected hemispheres, suggesting that damaged neuronal function was taken over by intact neurons. This may be the case for functional recovery in stroke patients [60, 80,58].

#### **Brain plasticity**

Brain plasticity is an inherent capability of the brain for functional and structural changes and adjustments in response to external stimuli and internal injury. The brain can be plastically modified throughout the life span.

Half a century ago, Donald Hebb proposed a concept that neuronal connections could be remodeled by experience [65]. Since then, a vast amount of evidence has demonstrated that cortical maps, neuroanatomy and neurochemistry are dynamically changed by environment stimulation, training, learning, experience and neuron system injury [18, 80, 157, 181]. Using

functional magnetic resonance imaging (fMRI) technique, Karni and co-workers [85, 86] reported that training the non-dominant hand to do finger-to-thumb opposition movement in adult humans increased the area of primary motor cortex. After amputation, somatosensory representation of the digit underwent translocation in adult monkeys. The representations of adjacent intact digits and palmar surfaces expanded topographically to occupy the deafferented cortex area [118]. Housing intact rats in an enriched environment increased cortical acetylcholinesterase activity [12], and also increased nerve growth factor, brain-derived neurotrophic factor and neurotrophic factor-3 in the cerebral cortex and in the basal forebrain [71].

Brain plasticity may also include neurogenesis [139]. It has been documented that neurogenesis occurs in the adult brain including in humans throughout life [42, 50]. In rodents, neurogenesis has been documented in two neurogenetic regions with high-density cell division: the subventricular zone (SVZ) [150, 151], and the subgranular zone (SGZ) of the dentate gyrus of the hippocampus [133]. Recently accumulating evidence has shown that the proliferation and differentiation of neural progenitor cells in the subgranular zone (SGZ) and subventricular zone (SVZ) respond to environmental changes, learning and memory, and brain damage. It has been reported that more neurons are observed in the brains of songbirds when learning songs [54] and when marsh tits store and retrieve food [136]. Nilsson and co-workers observed an increase of neurogenesis in the intact rats housed in EE condition, which accompanied with an improved spatial learning and memory [124]. In intact animals, environmental enrichment housing condition reduces spontaneous apoptotic cell death in the rat hippocampus [187] and increases survival rate of newborn neurons in the dentate gyrus SGZ [90]. Accumulating evidence shows that brain ischemia induces neural progenitor cell proliferation in SGZ and SVZ, and that most of dividing cells differentiate into neurons [74, 8, 74, 165, 170]. Ischemia-induced neurogenesis has been proposed to be associated with functional restoration [8].

#### Brain plasticity: possible mechanisms for spontaneous functional recovery after stroke

The fact that functional improvement is possible despite permanent tissue damage indicates that changes must take place in the intact remaining brain [15]. The cellular mechanism underlying brain plastically changing in response to stroke is currently uncertain. However, several possibilities have been suggested.

#### Diaschisis

Diaschisis is the phenomenon that presents immediate depressions of neuronal function in the brain regions remote from, but anatomically connected to the damage areas due to the loss of the excitatory afferent inputs. Von Monakow, a Russian neurologist, first described Diaschisis in 1914 [75]. The beneficial effects of the drugs that increase noradrenergic activity [45] or block GABAergic activity [64] after brain lesions support the concept of remote functional depression. Combinations of amphetamine and physical therapy have shown better functional recovery than physical therapy alone [60]; however, there is no functional effect when amphetamine is administered to the stroke rats that are housed in an enriched environment [78]. Interestingly, enriched environment-housed rats that were treated with diazepam, a GABAergic agonist, did not worsen functional outcome [Zhao and Johansson unpublished observation]. Does diaschisis just mean remote functional depression? However, in a time course study of transhemispheric

diaschisis, Andrews [7] found a different observation. The electrical activity in the contralateral intact hemisphere was increased at the late stages after unilateral brain infarction. Therefore, Andrews hypothesized that diaschisis might present a loss of remote inhibition rather than a loss of remote excitation. Other evidence further confirms the concept of remote functional excitation. Qu et al., [143] reported that hyperexcitability existed in the ipsilateral (lesioned) cortex surrounding to the infarction. This was observed at one to three days after focal brain ischemia and peaked at 28 d after ischemia. Lesion induced-hyperexcitability has also been found in the contralateral (intact) hemisphere after brain ischemia [16, 149]. Redecher et al., [148] reported that GABAa receptor subunits were bilaterally reduced in the cortex, hippocampus and thalamus after photothrombotic cortical infarction. The reduction was prevented by administration of MK 801, a NMDA receptor antagonist. Taken together, the concept of diaschisis may be presented as the brain areas that remote but anatomically connect to the lesion areas are undergoing functional depression and/or hyperexcitability. A brain damage event results in remote function of either depression or hyperexcitability. Which of these occurs depends upon how much time has passed after the brain injury, as well as the size, the location and the type of the lesion [7]. Based on this view, any pharmacological interventions may give positive or negative results, depending on the timing of administration and the situation of the lesion's size, location and type [80]. However, functional restoration may be partially related to overcoming a diaschisis and a re-balance of the abnormity between excitation and inhibition.

#### Physiological and anatomical changes in neuronal network

Some of the processes of functional reorganization after brain ischemia can happen very quickly, while other processes occur more slowly. It has been reported that anatomical modifications in synapses are extremely rapid and it happens within seconds [46]. It has been proposed that unmasking previously existing but functionally inactive pathways is relative to rapid changes in cortical maps [73]. Some redundancy of neuronal circuits with parallel pathways performing similar functions may take over the function from the damaged area [26]. A reinforcing of existing neuronal network may also play a role in the recovery process. Although it has been suggested that main functional recovery occurs in the damaged hemisphere [180,49], substantial evidence has shown that ipsilateral pathways in the intact hemisphere may also play a role in functional rehabilitation in stroke patients [60]. Changing excitability of neuronal membrane [61] and strengthening the existing synapses in process as long-term potentiation (LTP) or weakening the existing synaptic transmission as long-term depression (LDP) [66,67] have all been proposed as participants in functional restoration as well. Other processes to consider are anatomical alterations including sprouting new axon terminals and the formation of new synapses [176]. It has been reported that after cortical brain ischemia, an increased density and distribution of growth associated protein-43 (GAP-43) immunoreactivity were observed in the ipsilateral (lesion side) cortex 3~14 days post-ischemia. Synaptophysin immunoreactivity was increased in periinfarct cortex and the contralateral cortex 14~60 days after induction of cortical brain ischemia. The changes of GAP-43 and synaptophysin were relative to functional recovery after brain ischemia [169]. Finally, substantial evidence shows that astrocytes may also play an important role in synaptic plasticity [82, 177].

However, these recovery processes mentioned above may be operated at different time, and the processes may overlap or be followed by another serially.

Although the spontaneous recovery is often incomplete, it implies that functional reorganization

happens in the intact brain area. Therefore, to facilitate the functional reorganization events may greatly improve functional recovery after brain ischemia [80].

#### Enriched environment and functional improvement

#### Enriched environment and intact animals

The experimental concept of an enriched environment was originally conceived by Hebb, who let laboratory rats ran free in his house, and found that the problem-solving abilities of the home-housed rats were far advanced when compared to the problem-solving abilities of the littermates that had remained in the laboratory [65]. Housing rats in a large cage with various "play-things" was first designed by Hebb's students [47], and various modifications have been named as environmental complexity and training [101], enriched environment [156] and enriched condition [157] by Rosenzweig and his colleagues.

As early as 1960, Rosenzwig and co-workers [101] reported that enriched environment induced an up-regulation of cortical acetylcholinesterase activity. Thereafter, many studies have demonstrated that housing intact animals in an enriched environment shows increases in thickness of cortex [39], synaptic strength [48], neurotrophic factors [71], dendritic branching [57], dendritic spines [53], glial cells [5] and neurogenesis in hippocampus [90].

Overall, housing intact animals in an enriched environment increases plastically changing in the brain. Therefore, enriched environment induced-brain changing will probably be of benefit to functional recovery after brain ischemia.

#### Enriched environment and brain ischemic animals

In 1995, Ohlsson and Johansson reported that postoperative housing in an enriched environment facilitated functional recovery in rats after focal brain ischemia [128]. A later study showed that the functional outcome of social-housed rats (a group of rats housed in a large cage with no equipment) was better than individually housed animals with free access to a running wheel; enriched environment housing showed the best functional recovery of all tested housing conditions [76]. Enriched environment-induced functional benefits also appeared with delayed timing such as 15 days after brain ischemia [77]. Interestingly, the infarction size of the ischemic rats that were housed in standard condition correlated to their neurological deficits; furthermore, the functional benefits of enriched environment were not dependent on their infarction size (56, 76, 77, 128). In agreement with earlier studies, the rats that were tested repeatedly in a number of behavioral tests during 13 post-operative weeks, clearly demonstrated that rats housed in standard environment showed a correlation between lesion size and functional outcome but there was no correlation between lesion and functional outcome in the rats housed in an enriched environment at any tested time points [56]. This is what would be expected environmental enrichment might lead to stimulating effects in the intact remaining tissue. In a series of studies that combine EE and transplantation, grafted fetal cortical tissue in the infarct cavity survived and received afferent neuronal connections from host brain; the functional outcome was better in the rats that received transplantation and were housed in EE than the grafted rats that were housed in standard cages but the functional outcome was not better than the rats housed in EE alone when the transplantation was performed at 3 weeks after brain ischemia [80]. However, when transplantation was performed at one week after brain ischemia, the rats from an EE with graft resulted in a less thalamic atrophy and exhibited a better functional performance than EE alone [115], although there was no clear afferent in host to graft connections. It was, therefore, proposed that the enriched environment might lead to the production of more trophic factors in the grafts. Consequently, We thought it might be worth to study gene activation in infarcted rats housed in different environments.

At the time when the studies for this thesis were performed, it was already known that brain ischemia was a robust inducer for gene expression during the 24 h after induction of brain ischemia (see paper I). Several earlier papers from the laboratory had shown that environmental enrichment could significantly influence functional outcome [76,77,128]. In addition, previous studies reported above have shown that

environmental housing can alter gene expression in intact animals. Therefore, it was reasonable to assume that functional improvement after cortical infarcts would be associated with activations of the genes proposed to be of importance for brain plasticity. The maturation of infarcts has been proposed to be completed 48 hour after ischemia [189], and the functional benefits of EE are not dependent on the infarction size. Based upon these deductions we have focused this thesis on precisely what genes were altered by housing conditions a couple of days after cortical brain ischemia.

#### Brain-derived neurotrophic factor and brain plasticity

Brain-derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF) was first purified and characterized by Barde and co-workers [9]. Although it is less well known BDNF is an immediate early gene [70], and also belongs to the neurotrophin family that includes nerve growth factor (NGF), neurotrophin-3 (NT-3), neurotrophin-4/5 (NT-4/5) and neurotrophin-6 (NT-6) [106]. As other neurotrophins, BDNF binds to two types of transmembrane glycoproteins; one is the high-affinity tyrosine kinase receptor, tropomyosine related kinase B (trk B), and the other is the low-affinity receptor, p75 [25], which is a common receptor for all neurotrophins. It has been well documented that BDNF promotes neuron differentiation, survival and growth during the development of the nervous system [36]; however, the function of BDNF in adult brain has not been fully understood. BDNF mRNA expression was markedly and transiently up-regulated by various brain lesions such as seizure, traumatic injury, hypoglycemic coma and brain ischemia in adult brain, suggesting a neuroprotective effect of BDNF [107, 108]. Two hour-transient brain ischemia induced an upregulation of BDNF mRNA expression has been reported to be accompanied by its protein level [95,97]. BDNF that was administered before induction of brain ischemia showed a reduction of infarction size and had a protective effect on CA1 neurons [10,159]. Larsson and co-workers [103] reported that endogenous BDNF protected neurons form global ischemia. In addition to the neuroprotective effect, BDNF has also been proposed to play a role in neuronal plasticity. It has been shown that BDNF increases axonal branching [31], enhances the length and complexity of dendrites of cortical pyramidal neurons [116], and regulates the neural network [24]. Thoenen [174] and Lindholm [106] suggested that BDNF is involved in the neuronal plasticity base of the activity-dependent manner of BDNF synthesis and release. Sensory input regulates BDNF gene expression in the visual cortex [23], and BDNF mRNA expression is up-regulated in somatosensory cortex by mechanical stimulation of whiskers [155]. It has been demonstrated that BDNF is up-regulated by glutamate via NMDA and non-NMDA receptors, and downregulated by γ-aminobutyric acid (GABA) via GABAa receptors [174]. Interestingly, BDNF increases intracellular calcium concentration, and enhances release of classical neurotransmitters, which is important for the events related to the neuronal plasticity [106]. It has been studied that BDNF enhances the release of glutamate [135]. Long-term potentiation (LTP), a long-lasting enhancement of synaptic transmission following brief repetitive stimulations, is thought to be important for the development of neuronal connections and memory formation. Kang and Schuman [84] reported that BDNF increases the synaptic transmission in adult hippocampus. Hippocampal LTP is impaired in BDNF-knock out mice [99], and restored by recombinant BDNF [137]. It has been documented that BDNF plays a role in unmasking silent synapses [72]. BDNF increases the dendritic branching and enhances synapotogenesis [113, 117, 182]. In intact brain, BDNF triggers neural progenitor cells from proliferation to differentiation [27]. However, in ischemic brain, BDNF has been evidenced to decrease neuronal differentiation [59, 104]. Enriched environmental housing condition increases BDNF gene and protein expression in the intact animals [43, 71]. However, there is much less information available for BDNF in response to environmental enrichment housing after experiment stroke.

#### Never growth factor-induced gene A and corticosteroid receptor in brain plasticity

Never growth factor-induced gene A (NGFI-A) has been discovered as a transcription factor that rapidly induced by NGF [138]. It is also known as zif/268, Krox24, Egr-1 and TIS8 [152]. NGFI-A belongs to an immediate early gene transcription factor family. Because of the zinc finger motifs in the DNA banding domain, NGFI-A and NGFI-B, NGFI-C, Egr-2, Egr-3 as well as Nurr1 are all termed zinc finger immediate early genes, in an effort to distinguish these from the fos/jun immediate early genes [69]. NGFI-A preferentially binds to the GC-rich sequence 5'-GCGGGGGCG-3' of the genome DNA [20, 28], as a third messenger, links extracellular stimuli to long-term responses by acting target gene expression [173]. The biological function of NGFI-A has been characterized as controlling synaptic plasticity [83], neurite outgrowth [63], wound repair [92], as well as growth control and apoptosis [110]. Synapsin I and synapsin II involved in the docking of synaptic vesicles, neurite outgrowth and synapse maturation are regulated by NGFI-A. [138,172]. LTP is insufficient in NGFI-A heterozygous knock out mice [13]. NGFI-A mediated neural plasticity is dependent on NMDA receptor activity [29]. LTP formation and stabilization are associated with elevated NGFI-A [1]. NMDA receptor antagonist blocks both LTP and NGFI-A mRNA in the hippocampal neurons [29]. NGFI-A gene expression in the visual cortex is visual active dependent [185]. Enrich environment increases the levels of NGFI-A mRNA and protein, which is suggested NGFI-A plays a role in experience-induced neuronal plasticity [131, 141]. Brain ischemia rapidly and transiently increases NGFI-A gene expression in the cortex, hippocampus, striatum and thalamus [69]. Prolonged expression of NGFI-A following brain ischemia leads to apoptotic death [69]. However, it is not known whether NGFI-A gene expression is linked with EE-induced functional recovery after brain ischemia.

Corticosteroid receptors including mineralocorticoid receptor (type I, MR) and glucocorticoid receptor (type II, GR) have been shown to play roles in the learning and memory process [164]. Previous studies revealed that the two receptors co-expressing with NGFI-A, showed an association with anti-depressive drug-related and EE-induced neuronal plasticity in intact rats [121,123, 131]. However, further studies are needed to determine the relationship between the

gene expressions of MR and GR and environmental housing conditions following induction of brain ischemia.

#### Some candidate factors for brain plasticity not included in this thesis

It has been demonstrated that nerve growth factor (NGF), neurotrophin-3 (NT-3), glial cell line-derived neurotrophic factor (GDNF), insulin-like growth factor (IGF-I), basic fibroblast growth factor (bFGF, FGF-2), calcium/calmodulin-dependent protein kinase II (CaMKII) and growth-associated protein-43 (GAP-43) participate in brain plasticity.

Housing intact rats in EE condition increased protein levels of NGF and NT-3 [71]. IGF-I has a direct proliferative effect in adult hippocampal progenitor cells [3]. Peripheral infusion of IGF-I selectively induces neurogenesis in the adult rat hippocampus [2]. Exogenous administration of IGF-1 and GDNF facilitated progenitor cell proliferation in the ipsilateral dentate gyrus after transient brain ischemia [38]. It has been proposed that IGF-1 receptor co-localized with Estrogen receptor plays a role in the regulation of neuronal development and neural plasticity [21]. FGF-2 acts as a mitogen to stimulate neural stem cells or progenitor cells in SVZ or SGZ proliferation and differentiation [102], as well as to stimulate non-neurogenetic tissue such as neocortex, [134] septum, striatum [132] and spinal cord [166] to give rise to neurons and glial cells. Basic FGF enhances neurite outgrowth [145]. Exogenous administration of bFGF 24h after brain ischemia reduced thalamic atrophy and improved functional recovery after induction of brain ischemia [186]. The functional benefit of bFGF was documented to associate with neurite outgrowth [88,89]. GAP-43 has been suggested as a key molecule to initiate axon growth [168], and can be regulated by NMDA receptor [19]. CaMKII is important for LTP induction [109].

#### Animal models of stroke

Rodent models of stroke are more commonly used animal models for the following reasons: low cost, a well-studied brain anatomy and chemistry, and their cerebrovascular anatomy and physiology close to higher species [14, 52]. Brain ischemia is classified into global cerebral ischemia and focal cerebral ischemia. The global ischemia is a useful model for studying selective neuronal death or as a model of cardiac arrest whereas focal ischemia is a model of clinical brain infarcts as seen in clinical stroke. There are several models for focal brain ischemia such as proximal ligation of the middle cerebral artery (MCA), distal ligation of MCA, tandem ligation of MCA and the common carotid artery, photochemically induced focal cerebral thrombosis and injection of blood clots into the carotid artery [52].

Two focal brain ischemia models are commonly used today. One is intraluminal model of arterial occlusion and the other is ligation or electrocoagulation of the middle cerebral artery. In the intraluminal model, a suture is inserted into the internal carotid artery, further advanced and occluded the initial of the middle cerebral artery [93, 111]. Since the suture can be withdrawn at any given time for reperfusion, this model is usually used for pharmaceutical interventions for protecting neuron death from ischemia/reperfusion damage. Infarction induced by this model is manifested in the striatum and/or cortex. Although intraluminal model is less invasive than the model of MCA ligation, the disadvantages of intraluminal model have been concerned such as inconsistent infarction size, subarachnoid hemorrhage, intraluminal thrombus formation and

intraischemic and postischemic hyperthermia [11, 162]. Moreover, the hypothalamus is usually damaged by this model [190]. Therefore, the survival of the animals may be jeopardized due to a reduction in the intake of food and drink. Proximal ligation of the middle cerebral artery [171] gives different results depending on the strain used; however, the most consistent results are obtained with hypertensive rats [40,55]. Because hypertension in rats as well as in humans lead to structural adaptation with increased vessel wall to lumen ratio and increased peripheral vascular resistance; thus, reduced collateral circulation distal to a vascular occlusion results in a large and consistent infarction. The model of permanent ligation of middle cerebral artery distal to the striatal branch, which was used for the thesis, was first described by Coyle [33]. This model induces a consistent infarction in the cortex of spontaneously hypertensive rats [56].

#### AIMS OF THE STUDY

The general goals of this thesis were to determine whether post-ischemic housing conditions influenced the transcription and/or translation of the genes that were associated with brain plasticity. The specific aims for the thesis were:

- 1. To test the hypothesis that post-ischemic environmental enrichment stimulates BDNF gene expression.
- 2. To determine whether the pattern of BDNF mRNA expression corresponds to BDNF protein levels in an enriched environment after brain ischemia.
- 3. To investigate if postoperative housing conditions influence the gene expressions of NGFI-A and corticosteroid receptors (MR and GR) in a similar or different way to BDNF.

#### **GENERAL METHODS**

All procedures involving animals were conducted with permission from the animal ethical committee of Lund University. For details on the determination of infarct volume, tissue preparation and probes used for in situ hybridization and quantification of in situ hybridization (image analysis) see papers I and III. Details on sampling and homogenization of tissue, enzyme immunoassay for BDNF determination and quantification of the protein see paper II.

#### **Experimental animals**

Male, three-month-old spontaneously hypertensive rats (SHR, Møllegaard Breeding Center A/S, Denmark) were used for the studies. This strain was initiated from Wistar-Kyoto (WKY) rats with elevated blood pressure and developed by brother-sister inbreeding [127]. It is the only strain used in which a selected occlusion of the middle cerebral artery distal to the striatal branches induces consistent cortical brain infarctions. A further advantage with the method used is a short operation time and rapid awakening from anesthesia (methohexital sodium, 50mg/kg, i.p.). For details see the original papers. The same procedure has been used as in earlier studies on evaluation of neurological deficits and the functional effects of an enriched environment [76, 128]. It is important to avoid unnecessary operative procedures such as catheterization and intubation that prolong the operation time and reduce the early mobilization of the animals. The animals were allowed free access to food and water prior to and after the surgery.

#### **Housing environments**

The studies included in this thesis employed enriched environment (EE) and standard environment (SE) for housing animals.



Enriched environment: Eight to ten rats were housed together in a large cage (820 x 610 x 450 mm) furnished with horizontal and inclined boards and containing various items like wooden blocks, a chain, a swing board, a ladder, a tunnel and balls. Spaced between the boards were altered and some objects removed and other added three time per week.

Standard environment: three or four rats were reared in standard laboratory cages (550 x 350 x 200 cm) with no equipment. To be noticed is that the control of enriched environment used in the thesis is three or four rats in each cage, whereas most other studies (e.g.156, 187, 71,154) have used rats individually housed rats, usually considered deprived or impoverished housing likely to accentuate the difference between standard and enriched housing.

#### **Experimental design**

Before the operation for making the stroke model, all the rats were housed in standard condition. In order not to interfere with the early gene expression, which might influence the gene expression at a later phase, all the animals used for this thesis were housed individually during the first 30 h after the ligation of the middle cerebral artery. They were then randomly either returned to standard housing or transferred to enriched environment. Paper I and III include two experiments; the first was the rats killed 2-12 day, and the second was the rats killed 20 and 30 days after the ligation. The second series were added because of the marked difference between the groups that was still significant 12 days after the lesion.

The rats were not subjected any tests for evaluation of neurological deficits because it could have influenced the gene expression. Falkenberg and co-workers reported that BDNF gene expression was increased in EE-housed rats with water maze tests but not in the rats housed in SE [43]. In addition, considering BDNF and NGFI-A belong to immediate early genes, they are rapidly induced by stimuli including stress [34]. Euthanasia procedure has also been considered to influence mRNA levels of immediate early genes [35]. Therefore, the rats were gently handed during euthanasia, and the decapitation and removal of the brains were performed very rapidly within 3~4min.

#### SUMMARY AND COMMENTS OF THE RESULTS

#### Infarction size and post-ischemic housing conditions (paper I and III)

In agreement with previous studies [56, 76, 128, 76], the infarction size was not different between EE housing rats and the rats housed in SE following cortical brain ischemia. There was no correlation between gene expression and infarction volume.

#### Gene transcription in post-ischemic housing conditions (paper I and III)

#### Gene expression 2~12 days post-ischemia

In contrast to our hypothesis, BDNF and NGFI-A mRNA were downregulated in the early state in the rats housed in an enriched environment compared to standard rats with significant difference between the groups at day 2,3,12 for BDNF and at day 12 for NGFI-A at the peri-infarct frontoparietal regions and the contralateral homotopic cortex. In NGFI-A gene expression, a marked increase from day 7 to day 12 was noted in SE-housed rats. Ischemia-induced reduction of NGFI-A mRNA expression was detected at two and three days after brain ischemia in both housing conditions, which remained lower than unlesioned controls (baseline).

Hippocampal regions including dentate gyrus showed a similar pattern for BDNF in the cortex with significant difference between EE-housed and SE-housed rats at all times except day 7 on both sides. The only group difference for NGFI-A was observed at CA1, where a significantly higher values in standard rats than EE-housed rat at day 12 was shown. In dentate gyrus, the GR mRNA expression in SE-housed ischemic rats was significantly lower than unlesioned controls at all times except day 3, and in CA1 similar patterns were noted at day 2 and 7. In CA3, however, GR gene expression was higher in EE-housed lesioned rats than unlesioned control at d12.

The gene expression of BDNF in the thalamus was not influenced by housing conditions but by ischemic lesion. All of the lesioned animals showed significantly higher gene expression in the ipsilateral than the contralateral thalamus at d 2 and d7. However, 12 days after the arterial ligation all infarcted rats independent of housing conditions exhibited significantly higher BDNF mRNA values in the thalamus compared to unlesioned controls, suggesting that these changes were related to the lesion and not to the postischemic environments. Neuropathological changes have been observed in the thalamus in the ipsilateral thalamus in association with the spread of edema fluid 7 days after a proximal ligation of the MCA [125].

These results clearly show that post-ischemic events during the first 12 post-ischemic days trigger the changes in BNDF and NGFI-A mRNA in the cortex and hippocampus, and that the gene expression can be influenced by housing conditions. Detailed discussions on possible implications are presented in the original papers.

Since we did not have intact controls at each time point during the early stage, the statistical difference between lesioned and intact controls was not evaluated for BDNFgene expression. However, BDNF mRNA expression exhibited a clear trend for SE to be above and EE to be below baseline levels, which was contrary to our hypothesis. In paper I we presented the hypothesis that

it might be advantageous to reduce the early hyperexcitability that was described by others in the early stage after an ischemic lesion [16,142, 143]. However, whether or not there is a difference in hyperexcitability between the enriched and standard ischemic rats remains a hypothesis that needs to be tested with neurophysiological methods.

For MR mRNA expression, there was neither difference between the housing environments at any time points nor any differences to controls in any subregions studied. Although previous study showed a similar expression pattern between NGFI-A and MR [79] in unlesioned rats, the signal pathways might be more complicated after brain ischemia.

#### Gene expression 20 and 30 days postischemia

Twenty days after the lesion, BDNF mRNA was low in both groups with significant difference to standard unlesioned controls in the bilateral cortex and hippocampus. However, the lower level of BDNF gene expression than baseline remained in periinfarct cortex and hippocampal regions in the enriched group at 30 days. In the bilateral cortex, the level of NGFI-A gene expression in SE-housed ischemic rats was at baseline at d20 while the NGFI-A mRNA level of EE-housed rats was still significantly lower than baseline. However, 30 days after brain ischemia, NGFI-A gene expression in the lesioned enriched group was significantly higher than baseline and lesioned SE-housed rats in the contralateral cortex and CA1. An upregulated level of NGFI-A in EE-housed rats was also found in the peri-infarct cortex compared to unlesioned controls. Overall, EE-housed rats showed a significantly higher level of NGFI-A mRNA when compared with the rats housed in SE at 30 d after brain ischemia.

There are two recent studies that investigated gene expressions of BDNF, NGFI-A and NGFI-B in different housing conditions [35, 154]. In those studies, the ischemic rats were randomly assigned into four housing conditions: individually housing, individually housing with a running wheel, social housing (rats housed together with no equipment) and enriched environment. One month after the ischemic event, rats in all groups showed similar levels of BDNF mRNA as sham-operated rats in the peri-infarct cortex and the contralateral cortex [154], whereas the gene expressions of NGIF-A and NGFI-B in the social and enriched groups did not differ from sham although the levels of NGIF-A and NGFI-B gene expression in EE-housed and social-housed rats were higher than individually housed rats with and without a running wheel in the bilateral cortex outside infarct and CA1. The individually housed rats, however, displayed a lower gene expression than those of sham-operated rats [35].

#### **BDNF** protein determination (paper II)

In this study, 12 days were chosen because the BDNF mRNA gene expression was significant all the time up to that time point and the protein values were expected to be representative of that period.

In the ipsilateral frontal cortex surrounding to the infarct, the BDNF protein level was significantly reduced in the ischemic rats housed in EE when compared to ischemic rats housed in SE, which was in agreement with the data on gene expression. No other difference was seen between rats housed in standard and enriched environment, nor were there any side differences in the enriched group. However, the standard group had higher BDNF in the hippocampus and peri-infarct sensorimotor cortex on the lesioned hemisphere than on the intact side.

BDNF mRNA expressions and BDNF protein levels were reduced in the rats housed in EE when compared to SE-housed animals 2-12d after brain ischemia. However, for the BDNF gene expression, the differences were found in the ipsilateral frontal cortex, the contralateral cortex and bilateral hippocampus, while the BDNF protein levels that were observed a difference between the two housing conditions were evident only in the ipsilateral cortex. Comparing the BDNF mRNA expression, the less expression of its protein may be relative to the regulation of translation and/or post-translation for the production of BDNF, and cellular transportation. The variation between the relative regional distribution of BDNF protein and its mRNA in several brain structures has been reported previously [122]. Accordingly BDNF protein level has also been found only partly parallel to BDNF mRNA expression in a rat model of global brain ischemia [96].

#### DISCUSSION

#### The complexity of gene activations after brain ischemia

Microarrays/gene chip analysis, one of the multiplex techniques for gene expression, is recently being developed. This method provides the possibility to analyze thousands of gene expressions from the same sample. Using the microarray technique, about 3~4% (approximately 300) of tested genes were triggered by brain ischemia. The expressed genes were immediate early genes, heat shock proteins, anti-oxidative enzymes, trophic factors, genes relative to RNA metabolism, inflammation and cell signaling, about half of the expressed genes have not been reported in stroke [112, 163]. The patterns of ischemia-induced gene expression were complicated. The variations of the expressed genes are dependent on the methodology of gene identification and the model of brain ischemia [62, 91, 112, 144, 147, 163]. The pattern of gene expression may be influenced by the ischemic model used. Using in situ hybridization method, Hara and co-workers [62] reported that the areas of cerebral protein synthesis/ATP mismatch and the patterns of c-fos, junB, hsp70 and NSE gene expression were quite different between permanent and transient focal brain ischemia.

It has been postulated that early gene expressions regulate cell survival and death, and later expressed genes are associated with tissue repair, brain plasticity and functional recovery [112,147]. However, the situations are clearly very complex; moreover, growth inhibitory factors are also activated in the post-ischemic phase [188].

#### Enriched environment housing and gene expression at recovery stage

In a gene chip study, Rampon and co-workers [146] reported that housing intact mice in an EE resulted in a large number of genes changing. The genes changed at late stage (2d and 14 d after an EE housing) were not the same as the genes changed at early (3h and 6h after an EE housing). A fluctuated change was observed in the gene expression. For example, one of the neuronal excitability genes, a 78-kDa glucose-regulated protein, was increased during the early time but dramatically down-regulated at 14 d after EE housing.

Most of the genes altered at late stage were the genes participated in neuronal transmission and structural changes. For example, cAMP-dependent protein kinase, a factor damaging LTP, was reduced 2.5 fold after 14 d EE housing. A number of genes related to the function of NMDA receptor like postsynaptic density 95 (PSD-95), and the molecules downstream of the NMDA receptor such as calmodulin were up-regulated 2 and 14 d after EE housing. The genes associated with neuronal growth and synaptogenesis like cytoskeletal protein dynactin and cortactin were increased at the late stage. In addition, cell death 1 (DAD1), a gene that controls apoptosis during the development, was up-regulated, suggesting an anti-apoptosis effect on long-term housing in an EE

In this thesis, we found postischemic housing conditions led to changes of neural plastic candidate genes: BDNF, NGFI-A and GR gene transcription and/or translation in remote intact brain regions at late rehabilitation stage (2-30d post-ischemia). Downregulation of BDNF and NGFI-A in an EE housing condition during recovery stage may be associated with reduction of ischemia-induced hyperexcitability in remote areas. This reduction may be related to restoring

neuronal transmission system, protecting neurons from secondary damage and establishing new functional neuron circuits. It is worthwhile to note that during the recovery stage (2~20d) after brain ischemia, dendritic spines in the contralateral cortex layer II/III were increased in EE-housed rats [81], functional recovery was significant in EE-housed animals [128], BDNF and NGFI-A gene expression in the rats housed in EE were reduced [this thesis] and growth inhibitory factor was reported to be increased [188]. As mentioned above, based on the data of gene chips, hundreds genes were changed by brain ischemia and housing environments. Functional recovery is a result of the interactions of many genes. The alterations of the genes are dynamically orchestrated by cell context. Therefore, it is hard to draw up the entire process with some single genes at some selected times. However, to clarify the role of BDNF and NGFI-A in EE-related functional recovery more studies need to be conducted.

#### Gene transcription and/or translation of BDNF and NGFI-A outside infarction areas

In the present studies, BDNF gene and protein, and NGFI-A gene were expressed in wide distribution regions in the brain 2-30d after unilateral cortical brain ischemia, including ipsilateral and contralateral cortex, hippocampus and thalamus. First, it may be due to diaschisis. It has been proposed that after brain ischemia, blood circulation and cell metabolism are changed in the parts of remote regions that functionally connect to the infarct area. This phenomenon is caused by denervation [7, 44] termed diaschisis, a word introduced by von Monakow in 1914 [75]. Second, it may be relative to adaptive compensation events. Keyvani and co-workers [91] reported that the mRNA expressions of transcription factors, IEGs, neuronal signaling, neuronal growth and structure-associated factors, ion channels, transport proteins, mediators of metabolic pathways were changed in both ipsilateral and contralateral motor and somatosensory cortex 10 d after brain ischemia. Cortical maps can be modified by changes of sensory input as well as focal brain ischemia [80]. The cortex adjacent to a small lesion in the motor and somatosensory cortex is modified by training [126]. After a cortical brain ischemia in rats, increased density and distribution of GAP-43 immunoreactivity were observed in the ipsilateral cortex 3~14 days after brain ischemia and of synaptophysin immunoreactivity was detected both in the peri-infarct cortex and in the contralateral cortex at postischemic days 14~60. The functional recovery was found relative to the alterations of GAP 43 and synaptophysin in the rats housed in standard cage [169]. Using transcranial magnetic stimulation (TMS), positron emission tomography (PET) technique and functional magnetic resonance imaging (f MRI), clinical studies have shown functional reorganization in the contralateral and ipsilateral cortex of stroke patients [80, 60,158]. Taken together, the changes of BDNF and NGFI-A transcription and/or translation 2-30d after brain ischemia are most likely part of the processes for brain repair and functional restoration.

#### Is down-regulation of BDNF beneficial to functional recovery after brain ischemia?

#### BDNF gene expression during 2-12d post-ischemia

We had hypothesized that BDNF could be up-regulated in the ischemic rats housed in EE. However, the data were opposite to our hypothesis that BDNF gene and protein were reduced in EE-housed stroke rats.

BDNF synthesis and release are activity-dependent [106, 175], and can be blocked by NMDA receptor antagonist [107,174]. For a positive feedback, BDNF enhances the release of glutamate [100, 114, 135]. It has been demonstrated that focal brain ischemia induces hyperexcitability in the cortex surrounding the infarction and the contralateral cortex in standard housing rodents. In the mouse, hyperexcitability was detected in the cortex next to the infarction at 1~3 d after ligation of the middle cerebral artery, and peaked at 28 d post-ischemia [143]. Not only in the peri-infarct cortex, hyperexcitability was also observed in the contralateral cortex one week after induction of cortical photothrombosis [16] or middle cerebral artery occlusion [161]. Brain ischemia-induced hyperexcitability is caused by an imbalance between excitatory system and inhibitory system, which is an up-regulation of NMDA receptor- mediated excitation and down-regulation of GABAergic inhibition [4, 143]. Post-ischemic hyperexcitability has been suggested to play both a detrimental role, which develops epileptic activity and disturbs the incoming information process, and a beneficial role that promotes plasticity in functional recovery [16, 17, 161). However, hyperexcitability increases expression of BDNF [41, 94], and BDNF potentiates excitatory synaptic transmission [22]. Intrahippocampal infusion of BDNF enhances seizure activity [160]. Although glutamate and its receptor, NMDA, are important for neuronal plasticity in unlesioned animals [51], in ischemic animals could be different story. Lesion-induced hyperexcitability has been proposed to interfere functional recovery [184]. The improved functional restoration may link with a re-balance of excitatory and inhibitory neuronal activity. Down-regulation of BDNF during the early period after brain ischemia in EE-housed animals may imply a decrease of excitation and increase of inhibition and restore a new balance. We have in unpublished data from the same brains that have been analyzed in this thesis that neither CaMKII nor bFGF shows a corresponding down-regulation in EE-housed animals. However, to determine whether the EEinduced reduction of BDNF suppresses the lesion-induced hyperexcitability neurophysiological studies are needed.

BDNF may have both positive and negative effects on brain injury. It may be dependent on the size of the lesion and the dose of BDNF. It has been proposed a small lesion or mild insult in the brain may be protected by BDNF [107]. However, continuously producing high mount of BDNF by a BDNF recombinant adeno-associated viral transduction in vivo exaggerated ischemiainduced excitatory damage and resulted in an increase of neuronal death in ipsilateral striatum [58]. Accordingly, in an in vitro study, pretreatment with BDNF caused necrotic cell death when the cortical neurons exposed to oxygen-glucose deprivation [98]. It has been studied that brain ischemia induces neurogenesis in SGZ and SVZ [8, 74, 165, 170]. The newborn neurons after brain ischemia have been proposed to play a role in self-repair [8]. It has been reported that BDNF induces neuronal differentiation in intact brain [27], However, in the case of global brain ischemia, BDNF inhibited neuronal differentiation. Larsson and co-workers [104] reported that long-term delivery of BDNF in hippocampus led to a decrease of neurogenesis in dentate gyrus. Scavenging endogenous BDNF by intraventrical infusion of TrkB-Fc increased ischemia-induced neurogenesis in dentate gyrus [59]. Taken together, EE-mediated down-regulation of BDNF at the early recovery stage may be neuroprotection from excitotoxic injury and may be beneficial to brain repair after brain ischemia.

It has been studied that BDNF can be reduced by glucocorticoid, chronic stress, and immobilization stress [167]. Acute stress from the induction of brain ischemia resulted in a transient increase of BDNF at 2 h after perfusion, and returned to control level within 24 h after reperfusion [30, 95, 97]. However, all the lesioned animals were housed individually during the first 30-hour after brain ischemia. Therefore, different BDNF levels are not associated with the

acute stroke stress. Are the rats housed in EE condition more stressed than the rats housed in SE? As discussed in paper I, we have no indication that animals exposed to an EE condition were stressed. Moreover, acute stroke in both man and animals is associated with a transient high level of glucocorticoid in the circulation blood [120, 129, 130]. Although the high glucocorticoid levels have been proposed to have a negative effect on outcome there is no experimental or clinical evidence indicating that blocking the stress response after focal brain ischemia is beneficial for final outcome. An alternative interpretation of the fact that higher glucocorticoid levels have been associated with more dementia and depression [129, 130] is that those sequels are related to more severe lesions. In fact blocking the production of steroids during the 24 h following an ischemia in the same experimental model used as in this thesis increased infarction size and worsened functional outcome [153].

Glucocorticoid receptor (GR) in hippocampus can reduce glucocorticoid in the blood [164]. In the rats housed in SE, GR mRNA expression in hippocampus was reduced during 2~12d after brain ischemia; however, the reduction of GR gene expression was prevented in the rats housed in EE (paper III). Taken together, reduced level of BDNF in the EE-housed rats is unlikely due to stress. Down-regulation of BDNF in the rats housed in EE is probably related to more complicated mediation pathways that turnover or breakdown the expression of BDNF to comprise a better functional reorganization. However, conditional knock out or overexpression BDNF during 2-12d after brain ischemia needs further studies to determine whether BDNF dose in fact play a role in functional recovery.

#### BDNF gene expression at 20d and30d post-ischemia

The levels of BDNF mRNA expression during 20-30d after brain ischemia remained below baseline in both EE- and SE-housed stroke rats; there was no difference between the two housing conditions. This suggests that the low levels of BDNF gene expression were lesion-induced. Since BDNF gene expression is neuronal activity dependent, reduction of BDNF gene expression may be due to less afferent inputs and further loss of neuronal connections between two hemispheres, and loss of cortex-cortex horizontal connections. However, in a later study comparing several housing conditions, enriched, social, individual housing with and without a running wheel, none of the groups differed from sham operated rats and there was no difference among the enriched and non-enriched groups at 30 days after ischemia for BDNF gene expression, although the rotating beam test showed a better outcome in enriched-and social-housed rats than individually housed [154]. Therefore, BDNF in the later recovery stage may be not related to EE-induced functional benefits.

## Changes of mRNA expressions of NGFI-A and its target genes influenced by post-ischemic housing conditions.

NGFI-A gene expression was dynamically regulated in the ipsilateral cortex surrounding to the infarction, the contralateral cortex and hippocampal CA1 by housing conditions after brain ischemia.

The decrease of NGFI-A gene expression at two and three days after the induction of cortical brain ischemia was probably relative to ischemia-induced diaschisis in the ipsilateral and contralateral cortex and hippocampus. While the reduction of NGFI-A gene expression in EE-

housed animals during 7~20 days post-ischemia was unexpected. However, the sections from the same animals were used for both NGFI-A and BDNF gene expression studies. Interestingly, both of them were down-regulated in the peri-infarct cortex, contralateral cortex and hippocampus when compared with SE-housed rats during 2~12 d after the induction of brain ischemia. Similar to BDNF, NGFI-A gene expression is associated to activity-plasticity and regulated by NMDA receptor [29]. It has been reported that NGFI-A gene expression in the visual cortex is dependent on visual activity [185]. Antagonists of NMDA receptor blocks both NGFI-A induction and LTP formation [183]. Could it be true that down-regulation of NMDA receptor activity and/or up-regulation of GABAergic activity during this early period (2~12d post-ischemia) is critical for functional restoration? It has been also reported that prolonged gene expression of NGFI-A post-ischemia is related to slow neuronal degeneration [69] and apoptosis [32]. Therefore, in contrast to the increase of NGFI-A gene expression in the rats housed in SE condition during the early stage, EE-induced reduction of NGFI-A may be neuroprotective. There are more complex signal pathways involving in EE-mediated functional recovery after brain ischemia. However, according to the data we reported here, EE-induced down-regulation of BDNF and NGFI-A during the early phase (2~12d) after brain ischemia may suggest a process of down-regulation of neuronal excitability and upregulation of neuronal inhibition taking place in the remote areas to the infarction in EE- housed rats.

Regarding up-regulation of NGFI-A gene expression in EE-housed animals at 30d after brain ischemia, it may be associated with EE-induced synaptic plasticity. A recent study [35] showed that NGFI-A and NGFI-B were correlated to functional recovery at 30 day after cortical brain ischemia. Thirty days after brain ischemia, however, the levels of NGFI-A and -B in social- or EE-housed rats reached the same level as sham-operated rats, and the group-housed rats showed a better functional outcome. In contrast, the rats housed individually exhibited a worse functional outcome compared to EE- or social-housed ones; moreover, the levels of NGFI-A and -B for those rats were lower than sham-operated rats and than the group-housed rats (social and EE). Several lines of evidence have shown NGFI-A is involved in neuronal plasticity. Synapsin I and synapsin II, synaptic vesicle proteins, participating in the docking of synaptic vesicles, neurite outgrowth and synapse maturation have been regulated by NGFI-A [138, 172]. NGFI-A heterozygous knock out mice show insufficient in LTP [13]. LTP formation and stabilization are associated with elevated NGFI-A, NMDA receptor antagonist blocks both LTP and NGFI-A mRNA in the dentate gyrus [1, 29, 183]. Moreover, NGF-induced neurite outgrowth was blocked by inhibition of NGFI-A [105]. The translation of NGFI-A gene has not been investigated in the present study; the mRNA expression, however, can be regulated by translation or post-translation. Nevertheless, studies on the levels of NGFI-A mRNA and protein expression have shown a corresponding relationship [35, 141, 185].

It has been shown that there is a different expression pattern for NGFI-A in unlesioned animals in response to exposure of EE. Wallace et al., [178] reported that NGFI-A was increased in the cortex where related to neuronal plasticity in the rats housed in EE for two to four days. In agreement with the present study, Olsson and co-workers [131] found an up-regulation of NGFI-A gene expression in the hippocampus when the rats were housed in EE for 30 days. The data we presented in the current study showed that the gene expression of NGFI-A was reduced at 20 d after housing in an EE for unlesioned animals, which have not been studied previously. Could NGFI-A mRNA also be changed dynamically in the intact animals after housing in an EE? The strain of the animals and the methodological difference may also influence the outcome. Nevertheless, to elucidate this question, a time-course study needs to be performed in the future.

However, up-regulation of NGFI-A gene expression exhibited at 30 d after housing in an EE in both lesioned and intact animals, suggests a synaptic modification induced by an EE housing condition. This effect may be related to the targets of NGFI-A gene binding such as synapsin I and II [138, 172].

## The expressions of GR and MR, the target genes of NGNI-A, had exhibited different patterns from NGFI-A.

There is a potential binding site for NGFI-A in the GR promoter [37]. In a previous study, the pattern of GR gene expression in the hippocampus was similar to NGFI-A gene expression in intact rats after an EE housing stimulation [131]. However, the gene expression patterns of NGFI-A and GR in the present study did not correspond to each other, suggesting some other target genes of NGFI-A may be involved in the regulation after brain ischemia. Alternatively post-ischemic events are more complex than intact situation.

In paper III, we found that GR mRNA was reduced in the rats housed in SE during 2~12d after brain ischemia, and then restored at 20 and 30 days. The early decrease of GR gene expression in SE-housed rats was prevented in the rats housed in EE, possibly suggesting ischemia-induced disturbance of HPA axis was stabilized and normalized by EE housing condition.

Mineralocorticoid (MR), another corticosteroid receptor, has been reported to be associated with neuronal plasticity and learning and memory [164]. MR gene expression, however, was not influenced by the postoperative housing conditions.

#### **Concluding remarks**

Our studies show that post-ischemic events trigger a number of gene activations, which can be influenced by postischemic housing during the rehabilitation stage after brain ischemia. Neuronal functions and neuronal structures in the ipsilateral and contralateral hemispheric areas and subcortical areas outside the lesion are reorganized to compensate and/or restore the function damaged by infarction. The electrophysiological and morphological changes can happen in minutes, hours, weeks, month and years after induction of brain ischemia. Gene expression is very complex after brain ischemia. Ischemic injury is a robust stimulation triggering the expressions of hundreds genes. Both EE and brain ischemia can induce the expressions of hundreds genes. The alterations (upregulation or downregulation) of the gene expression are very complex. The location of the infarction, the size of the infarction, timing after brain ischemia, methodology, technology and manipulation of the experiments could influence the results of certain gene expression. Therefore, it is not a simple endeavor to evaluate the role of a single gene expression after brain ischemia. However, this thesis reports that post ischemic housing conditions influence BDNF, NGFI-A and GR gene transcription and/or translation. Further studies need to be conducted to determine whether or not those genes are changed by an enriched environment related to EE-mediated functional recovery. Conditional knock out or overexpression BDNF and NGFI-A or functional interrupting endogenous gene expression may provide more evidence for understanding how BDNF and NGFI-A participate in EE-induced functional recovery after experimental stroke.

#### **CONCLUSIONS**

- 1. Environmental enrichment changed gene expression after brain ischemia with different patterns and time courses for the individual genes that were studied in this thesis.
- 2. Enriched environment housing condition induced a down-regulation of BDNF gene transcription widespread in the ipsilateral and contralateral cortex and hippocampus during early rehabilitation stage after cortical brain ischemia.
- 3. Corresponding to its gene expression, post-ischemic housing conditions resulted in a decrease of BDNF translation in the ipsilateral frontoparietal cortex in enriched environment-housed animals 12d after induction of cortical brain ischemia.
- 4. NGFI-A mRNA expression was decreased during the early stage but up-regulated at later time after brain ischemia in enriched environment-housed animals. Ischemia-induced down-regulation of glucocorticoid receptor (GR) gene expression in hippocampus was prevented by an environmental enrichment housing during the early recovery stage.

#### **ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS**

I wish to express my sincere gratitude to those who have supported and made this thesis possible, especially to:

Professor Barbro Johansson, my supervisor, for her excellent scientific guidance and training, never-ending support and her personal help. Her profound academic knowledge, scientific insight and constructive teaching have contributed to the thesis completion.

Professor Olle Lindvall, for his effective support, for his kindness, scientific advice and personal help. Marika Lindvall, for her kindness and friendship to my family.

Professor Patrik Brundin, for his wonderful friendship, great help to my family and me both academic and personal areas. We never forget the first apartment he has helped us to find and how he helped us settle down in Lund. His humor, kindness and the many joyful parties we have shared are always with our memory. Anna-Lisa Brundin, for her kindness hospitality, friendship and generous sharing of love that made us feel at home

Håkan Widner, for introducing me to Barbro Johansson, for his academic support, personal help and friendship. Pia Widner, for her friendship, kindness and personal help.

Professor Anders Björklund and Eva Björklund, for their kindness and support, lodging my family in their house when my son and I just arrived in Lund.

Zaal Kokaia, for his academic suggestions, support and wonderful co-workship. Tamuna Kokaia, for her kindness and friendship.

Bengt Mattsson, my good friend and my co-worker, for his never-ending support, and personal help, for his expertise in computer program, and for teaching me how to use the program and sharing his in situ technique with me. Annette Mattsson, for her friendship, kindness and hospitality.

Anette Risedal, for her friendship, personal support and pleasant personality as a co-worker.

Some others were in the Laboratory of Experimental Neurology: Karin Jansner, for her kindness, personal help and teaching me how to cut brain tissue. Janina Warenholt, for her hospitality, kindness, personal help. Anna-Lena Ohlsson, for teaching me the animal model of stroke, and training me in how to handle rats. Irena Westergren and Martin Grabowski, for their academic support and kindness.

Professor Tommy Olsson, Per Dahlqvist and Inga-Maj Johansson in Umeå for excellent collaboration on paper III.

Professor Tadeusz Wieloch, for his kindness to allowing me to use his equipments for preparing in situ hybridization and for sharing a joyful Christmas party with his group.

Birgit Olsson and Anita Frank for their administrative assistance, and being kind and helpful to me. Maj-Lis Smith, for her academic suggestions and support. Gunilla Gidö, for her personal help, and excellent collaboration. Stefan Seth, for his competent help in computer technology. Hans Friberg, for his kindness and useful information. Kerstin Beirup and Ulrika Sparrhult-Björk for their kindness and help.

Eskil Elmér, for his wonderful help and sharing of his skilled knowledge in in situ hybridization technique. Andreas Arvidsson, for his academic help and useful discussion. Johan Bengzon and Maria Bengzon, for their friendship and being kind to my family and me. Merab Kokaia and his wife Tamuna, for sharing their kindness and friendly support.

Angela Cenci-Nilsson, for her academic support and friendship. Ola Nilsson, for his friendship and kindness to my family and me. Cilla Lundberg, for her scientific discussion and friendship. Birgit Haraldsson and Anna-Karin Oldén, for their technical help and personal support. Malin Andersson and Ulrika Englund, for sharing their scientific knowledge.

Jenny Karlsson, Mia Emgård-Mattsson and Lena Larsson, for their joyful friendship and academic support.

Nitten Bruun, for her wonderful friendship and academic support, for sharing her expertise in immunocytochemistry and histology, for her personal understanding and help. Maithe Perez, for teaching me in situ hybridization technique and warmly sharing her in situ room. Katarzyna Said and Ingela Larsson, for their friendship and technique support. Karin Warfvinge and Karin Arnér, for their kindness and technique suggestions. Sven Jakobsson, for making us laughs with by sharing many humorous events. Berndt Ehinger and Anders Bergström, for their kindness and help.

Jeppe Stridh, for his expertise in taking care of my animals and his kindness.

Shi-Wen Yuan, Xiao-Chuen Ding, Xi-Qin Ding, Wei-Qun Ding, Hui Zhang, Qing-Ming Zhou, Zhe-Cheng Ye, Yi-Qing Wang, Ting Wu, Xiu-Feng Xu, Hong-Qi Xu, Min Lu, Shou-Sheng He, Li Zhou, Jian-Qin Ye and Wei Zhang, for their wonderful friendship and personal support.

My mother, Fen-Hui Zhang; my parents-in-law Yong-Hou Duan and Guo-Xu Wang; my brother, Li-Qun Zhao; for their constant love, support and encouragement.

Finally, I would like to express my gratitude to my husband, Wei-Ming, for his love, encouragement and academic support; and my son, Yi-Fei, for his understanding, patience and support, and for always reminding me that life is beautiful and joyful.

This thesis was supported by grants from the Swedish Medical Research Council (projects 14X-4968), the King Gustaf V and Queen Victoria Research Foundation, the Swedish Heart and Lung Foundation, the Swedish Association for the Neurologically Disabled (NHR), Elsa and Thorsten Segerfalk Foundation, and the Swedish Stroke Foundation.

#### REFERENCES

- Abraham WC, Mason SE, Demmer J, Williams JM, Richardson CL, Tate WP, Lawlor PA, Dragunow M.Correlations between immediate early gene induction and the persistence of long-term potentiation. Neuroscience. 1993;56:717-727.
- Aberg MA, Aberg ND, Hedbacker H, Oscarsson J, Eriksson PS.Peripheral infusion of IGF-I selectively induces neurogenesis in the adult rat hippocampus. J Neurosci. 2000;20:2896-2903.
- Aberg MA, Aberg ND, Palmer TD, Alborn AM, Carlsson-Skwirut C, Bang P, Rosengren LE, Olsson T, Gage FH, Eriksson PS.IGF-I has a direct proliferative effect in adult hippocampal progenitor cells. Mol Cell Neurosci. 2003;24:23-40.
- Akins PT, Liu PK, Hsu CY.Immediate early gene expression in response to cerebral ischemia. Friend or foe? Stroke. 1996;27:1682-1687.
- Altman J and Das GD. Autoradiographic examination of the effects of enriched environment on the rate of glial multiplication in the adult rat brain. Nature.1964,204:1161-1163.
- American Heart Association. 2002. Heart disease and stroke statistics---2003 update. Dallas, TX: American Heart Association.
- 7. Andrews RJ.Transhemispheric diaschisis. A review and comment. Stroke.1991;22:943-949.
- Arvidsson A, Collin T, Kirik D, Kokaia Z, Lindvall O.Neuronal replacement from endogenous precursors in the adult brain after stroke. Nat Med. 2002;8:963-970.
- 9. BardeYA, EdgarD, Thoenen H. Purification of an ewneur otrophic factor from mammalian brain. EMBOJ. 1982;1:549-553.
- Beck T, Lindholm D, Castren E, Wree A.Brain-derived neurotrophic factor protects against ischemic cell damage in rat hippocampus. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab. 1994;14:689-692.
- Belayev L, Alonso OF, Busto R, Zhao W, Ginsberg MD.Middle cerebral artery occlusion in the rat by intraluminal suture. Neurological and pathological evaluation of an improved model. Stroke. 1996;27:1616-1622.
- Bennett EL, Diamond MC, Krech D, Rosenzweig MR. Chemical and anatomical plasticity brain. Science. 1964;146: 610-619.
- Bozon B, Davis S, Laroche S.Regulated transcription of the immediate-early gene Zif268: mechanisms and gene dosage-dependent function in synaptic plasticity and memory formation. Hippocampus. 2002; 12: 570-577.
- Brint S, Jacewicz M, Kiessling M, Tanabe J, Pulsinelli W.Focal brain ischemia in the rat: methods for reproducible neocortical infarction using tandem occlusion of the distal middle cerebral and ipsilateral common carotid arteries. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab. 1988;8:474-485.
- 15. Brodal A.Self-observations and neuro-anatomical considerations after a stroke. Brain. 1973;96:675-694.
- Buchkremer-Ratzmann I, August M, Hagemann G, Witte OW. Electrophysiological transcortical diaschisis after cortical photothrombosis in rat brain. Stroke. 1996;27:1105-1109.
- Buchkremer-Ratzmann I, August M, Hagemann G, Witte OW. Epileptiform discharges to extracellular stimuli in rat neocortical slices after photothrombotic infarction. J Neurol Sci. 1998;156:133-137.
- 18. Buonomano DV, Merzenich MM. Cortical plasticity: from synapses to maps. Annu Rev Neurosci. 1998;21:149-186.

- Cantallops I, Routtenberg A.Activity-dependent regulation of axonal growth: posttranscriptional control of the GAP-43 gene by the NMDA receptor in developing hippocampus. J Neurobiol. 1999;41:208-220.
- Cao X, Mahendran R, Guy GR, Tan YH. Detection and characterization of cellular EGR-1 binding to its recognition site. J Biol Chem. 1993;268:16949-16957.
- Cardona-Gomez GP, Mendez P, DonCarlos LL, Azcoitia I, Garcia-Segura LM. Interactions of estrogen and insulinlike growth factor-I in the brain: molecular mechanisms and functional implications. J Steroid Biochem Mol Biol. 2002;83:211-217.
- Carmignoto G, Pizzorusso T, Tia S, Vicini S.Brain-derived neurotrophic factor and nerve growth factor potentiate
  excitatory synaptic transmission in the rat visual cortex. J Physiol. 1997;498:153-164.
- Castren E, Zafra F, Thoenen H, Lindholm D.Light regulates expression of brain-derived neurotrophic factor mRNA in rat visual cortex. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1992;89:9444-9448.
- Causing CG, Gloster A, Aloyz R, Bamji SX, Chang E, Fawcett J, Kuchel G, Miller FD. Synaptic innervation density is regulated by neuron-derived BDNF. Neuron. 1997;18:257-267.
- 25. Chao MV.The p75 neurotrophin receptor. J Neurobiol.1994;25:1373-1385.
- 26. Chen R, Cohen LG, Hallett M. Nervous system reorganization following injury. Neuroscience. 2002;111:761-773.
- Cheng A, Wang S, Cai J, Rao MS, Mattson MP.Nitric oxide acts in a positive feedback loop with BDNF to regulate neural progenitor cell proliferation and differentiation in the mammalian brain. Dev Biol. 2003;258:319-333.
- Christy B, Nathans D.DNA binding site of the growth factor-inducible protein Zif268. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1989;86:8737-8741.
- Cole AJ, Saffen DW, Baraban JM, Worley PF.Rapid increase of an immediate early gene messenger RNA in hippocampal neurons by synaptic NMDA receptor activation. Nature. 1989;340:474-476.
- Comelli MC, Guidolin D, Seren MS, Zanoni R, Canella R, Rubini R, Manev H.Time course, localization and pharmacological modulation of immediate early inducible genes, brain-derived neurotrophic factor and trkB messenger RNAs in the rat brain following photochemical stroke. Neuroscience. 1993;55:473-490.
- Cohen-Cory S, Fraser SE.Effects of brain-derived neurotrophic factor on optic axon branching and remodelling in vivo. Nature. 1995;378:192-196.
- Copani A, Bruno V, Dell'Albani P, Battaglia G, Barresi V, Caruso A, Nicoletti F, Condorelli DF.Growth conditions
  differentially affect the constitutive expression of primary response genes in cultured cerebellar granule cells.
  Neurochem Res.1995;20:611-616.
- 33. Coyle P. Middle cerebral artery occlusion in the young rat. Stroke 1982;13:855-859.
- Cullinan WE, Herman JP, Battaglia DF, Akil H, Watson SJ.Pattern and time course of immediate early gene expression in rat brain following acute stress. Neuroscience. 1995;64:477-505.
- Dahlqvist P, Ronnback A, Risedal A, Nergardh R, Johansson IM, Seckl JR, Johansson BB, Olsson T. Effects of
  postischemic environment on transcription factor and serotonin receptor expression after permanent focal cortical
  ischemia in rats. Neuroscience. 2003;119:643-652.
- 36. Davies AM. The role of neurotrophins in the developing nervous system. J Neurobiol. 1994;25:1334-1348.

- De Kloet ER, Vreugdenhil E, Oitzl MS, Joels M.Brain corticosteroid receptor balance in health and disease. Endocr Rev. 1998:19:269-301.
- Dempsey RJ, Sailor KA, Bowen KK, Tureyen K, Vemuganti R.Stroke-induced progenitor cell proliferation in adult spontaneously hypertensive rat brain: effect of exogenous IGF-1 and GDNF. J Neurochem. 2003;87:586-597.
- Diamond MC, Krech D, Rosenzweig MR. The effects of an enriched environment on the histology of the rat cerebral cortex. J. Comp. Neurol. 1964;123:111-119.
- Duverger D, MacKenzie ET: The quantification of cerebreal infarction following focal ischemia in the rat: influence of strain, arterial pressure, blood glucose concentration, and age. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab. 1988;8:449-461.
- Elmer E, Kokaia Z, Kokaia M, Carnahan J, Nawa H, Lindvall O. Dynamic changes of brain-derived neurotrophic factor protein levels in the rat forebrain after single and recurring kindling-induced seizures. Neuroscience. 1998:83:351-362.
- 42. Eriksson PS, Perfilieva E, Bjork-Eriksson T, Alborn AM, Nordborg C, Peterson DA, Gage FH.Neurogenesis in the adult human hippocampus. Nat Med. 1998;4:1313-1317.
- Falkenberg T, Mohammed AK, Henriksson B, Persson H, Winblad B, Lindefors N.Increased expression of brainderived neurotrophic factor mRNA in rat hippocampus is associated with improved spatial memory and enriched environment. Neurosci Lett. 1992;138:153-156.
- 44. Feeney DM, Baron JC. Diaschisis. Stroke. 1986;17:817-830.
- 45. Feeney DM, Weisend MP, Kline AE.Noradrenergic pharmacotherapy, intracerebral infusion and adrenal transplantation promote functional recovery after cortical damage. J Neural Transplant Plast. 1993;4:199-213.
- 46. Fischer M, Kaech S, Knutti D, Matus A.Rapid actin-based plasticity in dendritic spines. Neuron. 1998;20:847-854.
- Forgays DG and Forgays JW. The nature of the effect of free-environmental experience on the rat. J. Comp. Physiol. Psychol. 1952; 45: 747-750.
- Foster TC, Gagne J, Massicotte G. Mechanism of altered synaptic strength due to experience: relation to long-term potentiation. Brain Res. 1996;736:243-250.
- 49. Fridman EA, Hanakawa T, Chung M, Hummel F, Leiguarda RC, Cohen LG.Reorganization of the human ipsilesional premotor cortex after stroke. Brain. 2004;127:747-758.
- 50. Gage FH.Mammalian neural stem cells. Science. 2000;287:1433-1438.
- Garraghty PE, Muja N.NMDA receptors and plasticity in adult primate somatosensory cortex. J Comp Neurol.1996;367:319-326.
- 52. Ginsberg MD, Busto R.Rodent models of cerebral ischemia. Stroke. 1989;20:1627-1642.
- Globus A, Rosenzweig MR, Bennett EL, Diamond MC. Effects of differential experience on dendritic spine counts in rat cerebral cortex. Comp Physiol Psychol.1973;82:175-181.
- Goldman SA, Nottebohm F.Neuronal production, migration, and differentiation in a vocal control nucleus of the adult female canary brain. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1983;80:2390-2394.

- 55. Grabowski M, Nordborg C, Brundin P, Johansson BB.Middle cerebral artery occlusion in the hypertensive and normotensive rat: a study of histopathology and behaviour. Hypertens. 1988;6:405-411.
- Grabowski M, Sorensen JC, Mattsson B, Zimmer J, Johansson BB.Influence of an enriched environment and cortical grafting on functional outcome in brain infarcts of adult rats. Exp Neurol. 1995;133:96-102.
- 57. Greenough WT, Volkmar FR.Pattern of dendritic branching in occipital cortex of rats reared in complex environments. Exp Neurol. 1973;40:491-504.
- 58. Gustafsson E, Andsberg G, Darsalia V, Mohapel P, Mandel RJ, Kirik D, Lindvall O, Kokaia Z.Anterograde delivery of brain-derived neurotrophic factor to striatum via nigral transduction of recombinant adeno-associated virus increases neuronal death but promotes neurogenic response following stroke. Eur J Neurosci. 2003;17:2667-2678.
- Gustafsson E, Lindvall O, Kokaia Z.Intraventricular infusion of TrkB-Fc fusion protein promotes ischemia-induced neurogenesis in adult rat dentate gyrus. Stroke. 2003;34:2710-2715.
- Hallett M.Plasticity of the human motor cortex and recovery from stroke. Brain Res Brain Res Rev. 2001;36:169-174.
- Halter JA, Carp JS, Wolpaw JR. Operantly conditioned motoneuron plasticity: possible role of sodium channels. J Neurophysiol. 1995;73:867-871.
- Hara T, Mies G, Hata R, Hossmann KA. Gene expressions after thrombolytic treatment of middle cerebral artery clot embolism in mice. Stroke. 2001; 32: 1912-1919.
- Harada T, Morooka T, Ogawa S, Nishida E.ERK induces p35, a neuron-specific activator of Cdk5, through induction of Egr1. Nat Cell Biol. 2001;3:453-459.
- Hernandez TD, Schallert T.Seizures and recovery from experimental brain damage. Exp Neurol. 1988;102:318-324.
- 65. Hebb.DO. The Organization of Behavior. New York, NY: John Wiley &Sons Inc; 1949.
- Hess G, Donoghue JP.Long-term depression of horizontal connections in rat motor cortex. Eur J Neurosci. 1996;8: 658-665.
- 67. Hess G, Aizenman CD, Donoghue JP.Conditions for the induction of long-term potentiation in layer II/III horizontal connections of the rat motor cortex. J Neurophysiol. 1996b;75:1765-1778.
- 68. Hill MD, Hachinski V. Stroke treatment: time is brain. Lancet. 1998;352:SIII10-4.
- 69. Honkaniemi J, States BA, Weinstein PR, Espinoza J, Sharp FR. Expression of zinc finger immediate early genes in rat brain after permanent middle cerebral artery occlusion. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab, 1997;17:636-646.
- Hughes P, Beilharz E, Gluckman P, Dragunow M.Brain-derived neurotrophic factor is induced as an immediate early gene following N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor activation. Neuroscience. 1993;57:319-328.
- Ickes BR, Pham TM, Sanders LA, Albeck DS, Mohammed AH, Granholm AC. Long-term environmental enrichment leads to regional increases in neurotrophin levels in rat brain. Exp Neurol. 2000;164:45-52.
- Itami C, Kimura F, Kohno T, Matsuoka M, Ichikawa M, Tsumoto T, Nakamura S.Brain-derived neurotrophic factor-dependent unmasking of "silent" synapses in the developing mouse barrel cortex. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2003;100:13069-13074.

- Jacobs KM, Donoghue JP. Reshaping the cortical motor map by unmasking latent intracortical connections. Science. 1991:251:944-947.
- Jin K, Minami M, Lan JQ, Mao XO, Batteur S, Simon RP, Greenberg DA. Neurogenesis in dentate subgranular zone and rostral subventricular zone after focal cerebral ischemia in the rat. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2001;98:4710-4715.
- Johansson BB, Grabowski M.Functional recovery after brain infarction: plasticity and neural transplantation. Brain Pathol. 1994;4:85-95.
- Johansson BB, Ohlsson AL.Environment, social interaction, and physical activity as determinants of functional outcome after cerebral infarction in the rat. Exp Neurol. 1996;139:322-327.
- Johansson BB. Functional outcome in rats transferred to an enriched environment 15 days after focal brain ischemia. Stroke 1996:27:324-326
- Johansson BB, Mattsson B, Ohlsson A-L. Funcitonal outcome after brain infarction: effect of enriched environment and amphetamine. In: Ito U, Kirino T, Kuroiwa T, Klatzo I, eds. Maturation Phenomenon in Cerebral Ischemia II. Berlin, Germany: Springer-Verlag; 1997:159-167.
- Johansson IM, Bjartmar L, Marcusson J, Ross SB, Seckl JR, Olsson T. Chronic amitriptyline treatment induces hippocampal NGFI-A, glucocorticoid receptor and mineralocorticoid receptor mRNA expression in rats. Brain Res Mol Brain Res 1998:62:92-95.
- 80. Johansson BB.Brain plasticity and stroke rehabilitation. Stroke. 2000;31:223-230.
- 81. Johansson BB, Belichenko PV.Neuronal plasticity and dendritic spines: effect of environmental enrichment on intact and postischemic rat brain. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab. 2002;22:89-96.
- Jones TA, Greenough WT.Ultrastructural evidence for increased contact between astrocytes and synapses in rats reared in a complex environment. Neurobiol Learn Mem. 1996;65:48-56.
- 83. Jones MW, Errington ML, French PJ, Fine A, Bliss TV, Garel S, Charnay P, Bozon B, Laroche S, Davis S.A requirement for the immediate early gene Zif268 in the expression of late LTP and long-term memories. Nat Neurosci .2001;4:289-296.
- Kang H, Schuman EM. Long-lasting neurotrophin-induced enhancement of synaptic transmission in the adult hippocampus. Science 1995;267:1658-1662.
- Karni A, Meyer G, Jezzard P, Adams MM, Turner R, Ungerleider LG. Functional MRI evidence for adult motor cortex plasticity during motor skill learning. Nature. 1995;377:155-158.
- Karni A, Meyer G, Rey-Hipolito C, Jezzard P, Adams MM, Turner R, Ungerleider LG.The acquisition of skilled motor performance: fast and slow experience-driven changes in primary motor cortex. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1998;95:861-868.
- Kawamata T, Speliotes EK, Finklestein SP.The role of polypeptide growth factors in recovery from stroke. Adv Neurol. 1997;73:377-382.
- 88. Kawamata T, Dietrich WD, Schallert T, Gotts JE, Cocke RR, Benowitz LI, Finklestein SP.Intracisternal basic fibroblast growth factor enhances functional recovery and up-regulates the expression of a molecular marker of neuronal sprouting following focal cerebral infarction. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1997; 94: 8179-8184.

- Kawamata T, Ren J, Cha JH, Finklestein SP.Intracisternal antisense oligonucleotide to growth associated protein-43 blocks the recovery-promoting effects of basic fibroblast growth factor after focal stroke. Exp Neurol. 1999; 158: 89-96
- Kempermann G, Kuhn HG, Gage FH. More hippocampal neurons in adult mice living in an enriched environment. Nature. 1997, 3:386:493-495.
- 91. Keyvani K, Witte OW, Paulus W.Gene expression profiling in perilesional and contralateral areas after ischemia in rat brain. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab .2002;22:153-160.
- 92. Khachigian LM, Lindner V, Williams AJ, Collins T.Egr-1-induced endothelial gene expression: a common theme in vascular injury. Science.1996;271:1427-1431.
- Koizumi J, Yoshida Y, Nakazawa T, Oondeda G. Experimental studies of ischemic brain eduma. 1. A new experimental model of cerebral embolism in rats in which recirculation can be introduced in the ischemic area. Jpn J Stroke. 1986;8:1-8.
- 94. Kokaia Z, Gido G, Ringstedt T, Bengzon J, Kokaia M, Siesjo BK, Persson H, Lindvall O.Rapid increase of BDNF mRNA levels in cortical neurons following spreading depression: regulation by glutamatergic mechanisms independent of seizure activity. Brain Res Mol Brain Res. 1993;19:277-286.
- Kokaia Z, Zhao Q, Kokaia M, Elmer E, Metsis M, Smith ML, Siesjo BK, Lindvall Regulation of brain-derived neurotrophic factor gene expression after transient middle cerebral artery occlusion with and without brain damage. Exp Neurol. 1995;136:73-88.
- Kokaia Z, Nawa H, Uchino H, Elmer E, Kokaia M, Carnahan J, Smith ML, Siesjo BK, Lindvall O.Regional brainderived neurotrophic factor mRNA and protein levels following transient forebrain ischemia in the rat. Brain Res Mol Brain Res. 1996;38:139-144.
- 97. Kokaia Z, Andsberg G, Yan Q, Lindvall O.Rapid alterations of BDNF protein levels in the rat brain after focal ischemia: evidence for increased synthesis and anterograde axonal transport. Exp Neurol. 1998;154:289-301.
- 98. Koh JY, Gwag BJ, Lobner D, Choi DW.Potentiated necrosis of cultured cortical neurons by neurotrophins. Science. 1995;268:573-575.
- Korte M, Carroll P, Wolf E, Brem G, Thoenen H, Bonhoeffer T.Hippocampal long-term potentiation is impaired in mice lacking brain-derived neurotrophic factor. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1995;92:8856-8860.
- 100. Knipper M, da Penha Berzaghi M, Blochl A, Breer H, Thoenen H, Lindholm D. Positive feedback between acetylcholine and the neurotrophins nerve growth factor and brain-derived neurotrophic factor in the rat hippocampus. Eur J Neurosci.1994; 1;6:668-671.
- 101. Krech D, Rosenzweig MR, Bennett EL. Effect of environmental complexity and training on brain chemistry, J. Comp. Physiol. Psychol. 1960; 53:509-519.
- 102. Kuhn HG, Winkler J, Kempermann G, Thal LJ, Gage FH.Epidermal growth factor and fibroblast growth factor-2 have different effects on neural progenitors in the adult rat brain. J Neurosci. 1997;17:5820-5829.
- 103. Larsson E, Nanobashvili A, Kokaia Z, Lindvall O.Evidence for neuroprotective effects of endogenous brain-derived neurotrophic factor after global forebrain ischemia in rats. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab. 1999;19:1220-1228.
- 104. Larsson E, Mandel RJ, Klein RL, Muzyczka N, Lindvall O, Kokaia Z.Suppression of insult-induced neurogenesis in adult rat brain by brain-derived neurotrophic factor. Exp Neurol. 2002;177:1-8.

- Levkovitz Y, O'Donovan KJ, Baraban JM.Blockade of NGF-induced neurite outgrowth by a dominant-negative inhibitor of the egr family of transcription regulatory factors. J Neurosci. 2001;21:45-52.
- Lindholm D. Neurotrophic factors and neuronal plasticity: is there a link? Brain Plasticity, Advance in Neurology. 1997;73:1-6.
- Lindvall O, Kokaia Z, Bengzon J, Elmer E, Kokaia M.Neurotrophins and brain insults. Trends Neurosci. 1994;17: 490-496
- Lindvall O, Kokaia Z, Bengzon J, Elmer E, Kokaia M.Expression of neurotrophin mRNAs in the postischemic phase. Adv Neurol. 1996;71:405-411.
- Lisman J, Schulman H, Cline H.The molecular basis of CaMKII function in synaptic and behavioural memory. Nat Rev Neurosci. 2002;3:175-190.
- Liu C, Rangnekar VM, Adamson E, Mercola D.Suppression of growth and transformation and induction of apoptosis by EGR-1. Cancer Gene Ther. 1998;5:3-28.
- Longa EZ, Weinstein PR, Carlson S, Cummins R.Reversible middle cerebral artery occlusion without craniectomy in rats. Stroke. 1989;20:84-91.
- Lu A, Tang Y, Ran R, Clark JF, Aronow BJ, Sharp FR.Genomics of the periinfarction cortex after focal cerebral ischemia. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab. 2003;23:786-810.
- 113. Marty S, Wehrle R, Sotelo C.Neuronal activity and brain-derived neurotrophic factor regulate the density of inhibitory synapses in organotypic slice cultures of postnatal hippocampus. J Neurosci. 2000;20:8087-8095.
- 114. Matsumoto T, Numakawa T, Adachi N, Yokomaku D, Yamagishi S, Takei N, Hatanaka H.Brain-derived neurotrophic factor enhances depolarization-evoked glutamate release in cultured cortical neurons. J Neurochem. 2001;79:522-530.
- 115. Mattsson B, Sorensen JC, Zimmer J, Johansson BB.Neural grafting to experimental neocortical infarcts improves behavioral outcome and reduces thalamic atrophy in rats housed in enriched but not in standard environments. Stroke .1997;28:1225-1231.
- McAllister AK, Lo DC, Katz LC. Neurotrophins regulate dendritic growth in developing visual cortex. Neuron. 1995;15:791-803.
- McAllister AK, Katz LC, Lo DC.Opposing roles for endogenous BDNF and NT-3 in regulating cortical dendritic growth. Neuron. 1997;18:767-778.
- Merzenich MM, Nelson RJ, Stryker MP, Cynader MS, Schoppmann A, Zook JM.Somatosensory cortical map changes following digit amputation in adult monkeys. J Comp Neurol.1984;224:591-605.
- Milbrandt J.A nerve growth factor-induced gene encodes a possible transcriptional regulatory factor. Science .1987;238:797-799.
- Mitchell JM. Clinic implications of poststroke hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal axis dysfunction: a critical literature review. J. Stroke cerebrovasc. Dis. 1997; 6:377-388.
- 121. Mohammed AH, Henriksson BG, Soderstrom S, Ebendal T, Olsson T, Seckl JR.Environmental influences on the central nervous system and their implications for the aging rat. Behav Brain Res. 1993;57:183-191.

- Nawa H, Carnahan J, Gall C.BDNF protein measured by a novel enzyme immunoassay in normal brain and after seizure: partial disagreement with mRNA levels. Eur J Neurosci.1995;7:1527-1535.
- 123. Nestler EJ and Duman RS. Intracellular messager pathway as mediators of neural plasticity, in: Bloom FE, kupfer DJ, eds. Psychopharmacology: The Fourth Generation of Progress. New York, NY: Raven Press; 1995:695-704.
- 124. Nilsson M, Perfilieva E, Johansson U, Orwar O, Eriksson PS.Enriched environment increases neurogenesis in the adult rat dentate gyrus and improves spatial memory. J Neurobiol. 1999;39:569-578.
- Nordborg C, Johansson BB. Secondary thalamic lesions after ligation of the middle cerebral artery: an ultrastructural study. Acta Neuropathol (Berl). 1996;91:61-66.
- Nudo RJ.Functional and structural plasticity in motor cortex: implications for stroke recovery. Phys Med Rehabil Clin N Am. 2003;14:S57-76.
- 127. Okamoto K, Aoki K.Development of a strain of spontaneously hypertensive rats. Jpn Circ J. 1963;27:282-293.
- 128. Ohlsson AL, Johansson BB. Environment influences functional outcome of cerebral infarction in rats. Stroke. 1995;26:644-649.
- 129. Olsson T. Urinary free cotisol excretion shortly after ischemic stroke. J. Intern. Med.1990; 228:177-181.
- Olsson T, Marklund N, Gustafson Y, Nasman B.Abnormalities at different levels of the hypothalamic-pituitaryadrenocortical axis early after stroke. Strok.e 1992;23:1573-1576.
- 131. Olsson T, Mohammed AH, Donaldson LF, Henriksson BG, Seckl JR.Glucocorticoid receptor and NGFI-A gene expression are induced in the hippocampus after environmental enrichment in adult rats. Brain Res Mol Brain Res.1994;23:349-353.
- 132. Palmer TD, Ray J, Gage FH.FGF-2-responsive neuronal progenitors reside in proliferative and quiescent regions of the adult rodent brain. Mol Cell Neurosci.1995;6:474-486.
- Palmer TD, Takahashi J, Gage FH.The adult rat hippocampus contains primordial neural stem cells. Mol Cell Neurosci. 1997;8:389-404.
- 134. Palmer TD, Markakis EA, Willhoite AR, Safar F, Gage FH.Fibroblast growth factor-2 activates a latent neurogenic program in neural stem cells from diverse regions of the adult CNS. J Neurosci.1999;19:8487-8497.
- Pascual M, Climent E, Guerri C.BDNF induces glutamate release in cerebrocortical nerve terminals and in cortical astrocytes. Neuroreport. 2001;12:2673-2677.
- Patel SN, Clayton NS, Krebs JR. Spatial learning induces neurogenesis in the avian brain. Behav Brain Res. 1997;89: 115-128.
- 137. Patterson SL, Abel T, Deuel TA, Martin KC, Rose JC, Kandel ER.Recombinant BDNF rescues deficits in basal synaptic transmission and hippocampal LTP in BDNF knockout mice. Neuron. 1996;16:1137-1145.
- 138. Petersohn D, Schoch S, Brinkmann DR, Thiel G.The human synapsin II gene promoter. Possible role for the transcription factor zif268/egr-1, polyoma enhancer activator 3, and AP2. J Biol Chem. 1995;270:24361-24369.
- 139. Peterson DA.Stem cells in brain plasticity and repair. Curr Opin Pharmacol. 2002;2:34-42.
- 140. Pfefferkorn T, Rosenberg GA. Closure of the blood-brain barrier by matrix metalloproteinase inhibition reduces rtPA-mediated mortality in cerebral ischemia with delayed reperfusion. Stroke. 2003;34:2025-2030.

- 141. Pinaud R, Tremere LA, Penner MR, Hess FF, Robertson HA, Currie RW. Complexity of sensory environment drives the expression of candidate-plasticity gene, nerve growth factor induced-A. Neuroscience.2002;112:573-582.
- 142. Qu M, Buchkremer-Ratzmann I, Schiene K, Schroeter M, Witte OW, Zilles K.Bihemispheric reduction of GABAA receptor binding following focal cortical photothrombotic lesions in the rat brain. Brain Res.1998;813:374-380.
- 143. Qu M, Mittmann T, Luhmann HJ, Schleicher A, Zilles K.Long-term changes of ionotropic glutamate and GABA receptors after unilateral permanent focal cerebral ischemia in the mouse brain. Neuroscience. 1998;85:29-43.
- 144. Raghavendra Rao VL, Bowen KK, Dhodda VK, Song G, Franklin JL, Gavva NR, Dempsey RJ.Gene expression analysis of spontaneously hypertensive rat cerebral cortex following transient focal cerebral ischemia. J Neurochem. 2002; 83: 1072-1086.
- 145. Ramirez JJ, Finklestein SP, Keller J, Abrams W, George MN, Parakh T.Basic fibroblast growth factor enhances axonal sprouting after cortical injury in rats. Neuroreport. 1999; 10: 1201-1204.
- 146. Rampon C, Jiang CH, Dong H, Tang YP, Lockhart DJ, Schultz PG, Tsien JZ, Hu Y.Effects of environmental enrichment on gene expression in the brain. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2000;97:12880-12884.
- 147. Read SJ, Parsons AA, Harrison DC, Philpott K, Kabnick K, O' Brien S, Clark S, Brawner M, Bates S, Gloger I, Legos JJ, Barone FC.Stroke genomics: approaches to identify, validate, and understand ischemic stroke gene expression. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab. 2001;21:755-778.
- 148. Redecker C, Wang W, Fritschy JM, Witte OW.Widespread and long-lasting alterations in GABA(A)-receptor subtypes after focal cortical infarcts in rats: mediation by NMDA-dependent processes. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab. 2002; 22: 1463-1475.
- 149. Reinecke S, Lutzenburg M, Hagemann G, Bruehl C, Neumann-Haefelin T, Witte OW.Electrophysiological transcortical diaschisis after middle cerebral artery occlusion (MCAO) in rats. Neurosci Lett. 1999;261:85-88.
- Reynolds BA, Weiss S.Generation of neurons and astrocytes from isolated cells of the adult mammalian central nervous system. Science. 1992;255:1707-1710.
- Richards LJ, Kilpatrick TJ, Bartlett PF.De novo generation of neuronal cells from the adult mouse brain. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A.1992;89:8591-8595.
- 152. Richardson CL, Tate WP, Mason SE, Lawlor PA, Dragunow M, Abraham WC. Correlation between the induction of an immediate early gene, zif/268, and long-term potentiation in the dentate gyrus. Brain Res. 1992;580:147-154.
- 153. Risedal A, Nordborg C, Johansson BB.Infarct volume and functional outcome after pre- and postoperative administration of metyrapone, a steroid synthesis inhibitor, in focal brain ischemia in the rat. Eur J Neurol. 1999;6: 481-486.
- 154. Risedal A, Mattsson B, Dahlqvist P, Nordborg C, Olsson T, Johansson BB.Environmental influences on functional outcome after a cortical infarct in the rat. Brain Res Bull. 2002;58:315-321.
- Rocamora N, Welker E, Pascual M, Soriano E. Upregulation of BDNF mRNA expression in the barrel cortex of adult mice after sensory stimulation. J Neurosci. 1996;16:4411-4419.
- Rosenzweig MR, Krech D. Bennett EL. Zolman JF. Variation in environmental complexith and brain measures. J Comp Physiol Psychol. 1962; 55: 1092-1095.
- 157. Rosenzweig MR, Bennett EL. Psychobiology of plasticity: effects of training and experience on brain and behavior. Behav Brain Res. 1996;78:57-65.

- Rossini PM, Dal Forno G.Integrated technology for evaluation of brain function and neural plasticity. Phys Med Rehabil Clin N Am. 2004:15:263-306.
- 159. Schabitz WR, Schwab S, Spranger M, Hacke W.Intraventricular brain-derived neurotrophic factor reduces infarct size after focal cerebral ischemia in rats. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab. 1997;17:500-506.
- Scharfman HE, Goodman JH, Sollas AL, Croll SD.Spontaneous limbic seizures after intrahippocampal infusion of brain-derived neurotrophic factor. Exp Neurol. 2002;174:201-214.
- Schiene K, Bruehl C, Zilles K, Qu M, Hagemann G, Kraemer M, Witte OW. Neuronal hyperexcitability and reduction of GABAA-receptor expression in the surround of cerebral photothrombosis. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab. 1996;16:906-914.
- 162. Schmid-Elsaesser R, Zausinger S, Hungerhuber E, Baethmann A, Reulen HJ.A critical reevaluation of the intraluminal thread model of focal cerebral ischemia: evidence of inadvertent premature reperfusion and subarachnoid hemorrhage in rats by laser-Doppler flowmetry. Stroke. 1998;29:2162-2170.
- 163. Schmidt-Kastner R, Zhang B, Belayev L, Khoutorova L, Amin R, Busto R, Ginsberg MD.DNA microarray analysis of cortical gene expression during early recirculation after focal brain ischemia in rat. Brain Res Mol Brain Res. 2002;108:81-93.
- 164. Seckl JR, Olsson T.Glucocorticoid hypersecretion and the age-impaired hippocampus: cause or effect? J Endocrinol. 1995;145:201-211.
- 165. Sharp FR, Liu J, Bernabeu R.Neurogenesis following brain ischemia. Brain Res Dev Brain Res. 2002;134:23-30.
- Shihabuddin LS, Ray J, Gage FH. FGF-2 is sufficient to isolate progenitors found in the adult mammalian spinal cord. Exp Neurol. 1997;148:577-586.
- 167. Smith MA, Makino S, Kvetnansky R, Post RM.Stress and glucocorticoids affect the expression of brain-derived neurotrophic factor and neurotrophin-3 mRNAs in the hippocampus. J Neurosci. 1995;15:1768-1777.
- 168. Strata P, Buffo A, Rossi F.Mechanisms of axonal plasticity. Arch Ital Biol. 1999;137:181-192.
- 169. Stroemer RP, Kent TA, Hulsebosch CE. Neocortical neural sprouting, synaptogenesis, and behavioral recovery after neocortical infarction in rats. Stroke. 1995;26:2135-2144.
- 170. Takasawa K, Kitagawa K, Yagita Y, Sasaki T, Tanaka S, Matsushita K, Ohstuki T, Miyata T, Okano H, Hori M, Matsumoto M.Increased proliferation of neural progenitor cells but reduced survival of newborn cells in the contralateral hippocampus after focal cerebral ischemia in rats. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab. 2002;22:299-307.
- 171. Tamura A, Graham DI, McCulloch J, Teasdale GM. Focal cerebral ischaemia in the rat: 1. Description of technique and early neuropathological consequences following middle cerebral artery occlusion. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab. 1981;1:53-60.
- 172. Thiel G, Schoch S, Petersohn D.Regulation of synapsin I gene expression by the zinc finger transcription factor zif268/egr-1. J Biol Chem. 1994;269:15294-15301.
- 173. Thiel G, Cibelli G.Regulation of life and death by the zinc finger transcription factor Egr-1. J Cell Physiol. 2002;193: 287-292.
- 174. Thoenen H. Neurotrophins and neuronal plasticity. Science. 1995:270:593-598.

- 175. Thoenen H. Neurotrophins and activity-dependent plasticity. Prog Brain Res. 2000;128:183-191.
- 176. Toni N, Buchs PA, Nikonenko I, Bron CR, Muller D.LTP promotes formation of multiple spine synapses between a single axon terminal and a dendrite. Nature. 1999;402:421-425.
- Ullian EM, Sapperstein SK, Christopherson KS, Barres BA. Control of synapse number by glia. Science. 2001;291: 657-661.
- 178. Wallace CS, Withers GS, Weiler IJ, George JM, Clayton DF, Greenough WT.Correspondence between sites of NGFI-A induction and sites of morphological plasticity following exposure to environmental complexity. Brain Res Mol Brain Res. 1995;32:211-220.
- 179. Warlow C, Sudlow C, Dennis M, Wardlaw J, Sandercock P.Stroke. Lancet. 2003;362:1211-1224.
- Werhahn KJ, Conforto AB, Kadom N, Hallett M, Cohen LG. Contribution of the ipsilateral motor cortex to recovery after chronic stroke. Ann Neurol. 2003;54:464-472.
- 181. Will B, Kelche C. Environmental approaches to recovery of function from brain damage: A review of animal studies (1981-1991). In: Recovery from Brain Damage. Rose FD. Johnson DA, eds. New York: Plenum Press; 1992:79-103.
- 182. Wirth MJ, Brun A, Grabert J, Patz S, Wahle P.Accelerated dendritic development of rat cortical pyramidal cells and interneurons after biolistic transfection with BDNF and NT4/5. Development. 2003;130:5827-5838.
- 183. Wisden W, Errington ML, Williams S, Dunnett SB, Waters C, Hitchcock D, Evan G, Bliss TV, Hunt SP.Differential expression of immediate early genes in the hippocampus and spinal cord. Neuron. 1990;4:603-614.
- 184. Witte OW, Freund HJ. Neuronal dysfunction, epilepsy, and postlesional brain plasticity. Adv Neurol. 1999;81:25-36.
- 185. Worley PF, Christy BA, Nakabeppu Y, Bhat RV, Cole AJ, Baraban JM.Constitutive expression of zif268 in neocortex is regulated by synaptic activity. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1991;88:5106-5110.
- 186. Yamada K, Kinoshita A, Kohmura E, Sakaguchi T, Taguchi J, Kataoka K, Hayakawa T.Basic fibroblast growth factor prevents thalamic degeneration after cortical infarction. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab. 1991; 11: 472-478.
- Young D, Lawlor PA, Leone P, Dragunow M, During MJ. Environmental enrichment inhibits spontaneous apoptosis, prevents seizures and is neuroprotective. Nat Med. 1999;5:448-453.
- 188. Yuguchi T, Kohmura E, Sakaki T, Nonaka M, Yamada K, Yamashita T, Kishiguchi T, Sakaguchi T, Hayakawa T.Expression of growth inhibitory factor mRNA after focal ischemia in rat brain. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab. 1997;17:745-752.
- 189. Zhang RL, Chopp M, Chen H, Garcia JH.Temporal profile of ischemic tissue damage, neutrophil response, and vascular plugging following permanent and transient (2H) middle cerebral artery occlusion in the rat. J Neurol Sci. 1994;125:3-10.
- Zhao Q, Memezawa H, Smith ML, Siesjo BK. Hyperthermia complicates middle cerebral artery occlusion induced by an intraluminal filament. Brain Res. 1994;649:253-259.

Appendix